STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

—————  
Certiorari to Oconee County

Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge  
—————

RICHARD ANTHONY DUNSTON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001746  
—————

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
—————

GARY H JOHNSON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**

**Mar 20 2024**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether plea counsel was ineffective in failing to move to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea to voluntary manslaughter to allow consultation with and advice to Petitioner when Petitioner testified during the plea colloquy that the shooting resulted from a struggle over possession of a gun that went off by accident, and without intent to kill, since this was materially inconsistent with the factual basis for a plea to voluntary manslaughter?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner Richard Dunston was indicted for the murder of M.L. on October 29, 2018.<sup>1</sup> App. 94-95. Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Letitia Verdin on October 15, 2020, for a guilty plea hearing. App. 1. Petitioner was represented by David Plowden, and Lindsey Simmons appeared on behalf of the state. App. 2. Simmons informed Judge Verdin that Petitioner had agreed to a plea to voluntary manslaughter with a sentencing cap of twenty-five years. App. 3.

In conducting the guilty plea, Petitioner attempted to explain to Judge Verdin that M.L.'s death was not intentional and was the result of a struggle over the gun M.L. had given Petitioner. App. 16, l. 25 – 17, l. 19.

So, M.L. and me was arguing, she is arguing with me about the gun and stuff, I should give it back to her. I was walking away. M.L. grabbed the gun. The gun was just overloaded. I was trying -- we was struggling for the gun and the gun went off. Everybody trying to say that I just up and shot her, and I did not do that.

App. 17, ll. 13 - 19.

Judge Verdin then noted that she “can't accept his guilty plea” and Petitioner had to admit to killing M.L. App. 17, ll. 20 – 22. Rather than move to withdraw the plea, plea counsel attempted to get Petitioner to admit to pulling the trigger:

MR. PLOWDEN: Your Honor . . . I'm going to ask him [Defendant/Petitioner] a question now. Did you pull the trigger?

THE DEFENDANT: More like the gun went off. Like she arguing -- she was arguing with me about the gun.

---

<sup>1</sup> There is no indication “M.L.” was a minor or sexual assault victim that would require redaction of her name pursuant to Rule 41.2, SCRPC or *In re Revised Ord. Concerning Pers. Identifying Info. & Other Sensitive Info. in App. Ct. Filings*, 407 S.C. 607, 607, 757 S.E.2d 421 (2014). In fact, news reports from the incident indicate “M.L.” was 21 years old at the time of her death. See <https://www.independentmail.com/story/news/crime/2018/05/18/police-seneca-woman-fatally-shot-domestic-related-incident/622473002/>. The guilty plea transcript and indictments were received by counsel for Petitioner already redacted and without explanation. Those redactions have been reflected in the Appendix.

MR. PLOWDEN: Okay. Well, was your finger on the trigger?

THE DEFENDANT: I couldn't tell you. I don't remember.

App. 19, ll. 4 – 14.

Judge Verdin then had the solicitor recite the basic allegation that Petitioner shot and killed M.L., after which Petitioner plead guilty. App. 19, l. 15 – 20, l. 6. Despite Judge Verdin acknowledging that Petitioner was “kind of going back on his accepted plea, but he's admitting the facts as presented by the State” and *if the state was satisfied* the court would accept the plea. App. 20, ll. 7 – 14.

Petitioner filed a timely application for PCR alleging ineffective assistance of counsel in connection with the guilty plea.<sup>2</sup> App. 26. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Perry Gravely on February 27, 2023. App. 47. Susannah Ross represented Petitioner, and Taylor Smith appeared on behalf of the state. App. 47. Judge Gravely denied relief by Order of Dismissal dated October 9, 2023. App. 80.

This petition follows.

---

<sup>2</sup>Petitioner filed a direct appeal following the guilty plea, but the appeal was dismissed under Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), SCACR, on December 16, 2020.

## ARGUMENT

Plea counsel was ineffective in failing to move to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea to voluntary manslaughter to allow consultation with and advice to Petitioner when Petitioner testified during the plea colloquy that the shooting resulted from a struggle over possession of a gun that went off by accident, and without intent to kill, since this was materially inconsistent with the factual basis for a plea to voluntary manslaughter.

### **A. Standard of Review.**

Generally, a guilty plea waives non-jurisdictional defects and violations of constitutionally protected rights. State v. Green, 436 S.C. 492, 494, 872 S.E.2d 869, 870 (Ct. App. 2022). “The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.” Gustine v. State, 325 S.C. 123, 127, 480 S.E.2d 444, 446 (1997) (quoting Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985)). “A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 572, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011).

### **B. How the matter was raised during the guilty plea.**

During his guilty plea, Petitioner told the court that his relationship with M.L. was close but ending when the shooting occurred:

[M.L. was upset] with me because I didn't want to be with her. I was staying back and forth to my wife [Raven Dunston].

Me and M.L. went outside. M.L. was arguing with me. *M.L. bought the gun that I had. There was nothing that I had that M.L. didn't buy me, clothes, phone, shoes, she bought me.*

App. 16, l. 22 – 17, l. 3 (emphasis added).

The shooting arose out of this argument and was an accident and not intentional:

So, M.L. and me was arguing, she is arguing with me about the gun and stuff, I should give it back to her. I was walking away. M.L. grabbed the gun. The gun was just overloaded. I was trying -- we was struggling for the gun and the gun went off. Everybody trying to say that I just up and shot her, and I did not do that.

App. 16, l. 25 – 17, l. 19.

At this stage, Judge Verdin told Petitioner that the court could not accept the plea and that Petitioner had to admit to the intentionally killing of M.L. App. 17, ll. 20 – 22. Again, Petitioner indicated the shooting was accident and not intentional:

My hand like it went off. The gun was in my hand when it went off. There's nothing -- the gun was in my hand. But it's not like everybody make it.

App. 17, l. 23 – 18, l. 1.

Judge Verdin then asked for input from the solicitor, who admitted there were no eyewitnesses to the shooting, only witnesses who would testify as to an argument going on outside the home on the front porch and to seeing Petitioner fleeing the area *after* hearing shots.

App. 18, ll. 11 – 17.

Rather than move to withdraw the plea, plea counsel attempted to get Petitioner to admit to pulling the trigger:

MR. PLOWDEN: Your Honor . . . I'm going to ask him [Defendant/Petitioner] a question now. Did you pull the trigger?

THE DEFENDANT: More like the gun went off. Like she arguing -- she was arguing with me about the gun.

MR. PLOWDEN: Okay. Well, was your finger on the trigger?

THE DEFENDANT: I couldn't tell you. I don't remember.

App. 19, ll. 4 – 14.

Judge Verdin then had the solicitor recite a truncated version of the factual allegations to which Petitioner indicated he was pleading guilty. App. 19, l. 15 – 20, l. 6. Judge Verdin then deferred to the solicitor as to whether to accept the plea since the Petitioner was “kind of going back on his accepted plea.” App. 20, ll. 7 – 14.

Since plea counsel made no motion to withdraw the plea or attempt to consult with Petitioner during the hearing, Judge Verdin accepted the guilty plea and sentenced Petitioner to twenty-five years in prison for voluntary manslaughter.

### **C. How the matter was raised during PCR.**

During the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified that his plea counsel failed to intervene on his behalf during the plea since his actions would not have supported a voluntary manslaughter charge. Referencing the plea colloquy with Judge Verdin, Petitioner testified that plea counsel should have “come in and talked to me and asked me what I wanted to do from there, and he should have stood down the plea, which he did not.” App. 55, ll. 19 – 25.

Plea counsel admitted that he failed to move to withdrawal or stop the plea:

The transcript indicates that the plea didn't go particularly smoothly. And Judge Verdin had just sort of started over, and -- and I wasn't sure what to do to be honest with you about that.

App. 71, ll. 17 – 21. Plea counsel admitted that he did not discuss involuntary manslaughter as a potential less included offense. App. 69, l. 22 – 70, l. 4.

Plea counsel admitted to not seeking the chance to stop the plea and discuss Petitioner's options when Judge Verdin indicated the plea could not be accepted:

Well, that was difficult. And because -- because due to the pandemic, we were holding this -- this plea in the Magistrate's courtroom in the -- the jail. It's very small. There were a lot of people there because of the interest in this case, so there were press

there. I was -- he was -- he was behind glass speaking through a portal, and I was in the courtroom. So I didn't -- unlike probably most of the pleas I've ever done before in my life, I didn't have the opportunity to pull him aside and whisper in his ear. So I -- I don't -- I didn't have any -- I couldn't have a conversation with him in that circumstance that -- that wouldn't be on the record. And then Judge Verdin started over, and I think the moment passed.

App. 71, l. 11 – 72, l. 1.

Rather than interrupt and confer with Petitioner, plea counsel simply allowed the plea to continue since he felt the negotiated plea was reasonable, regardless of Petitioner's testimony that would not have supported the guilty plea.

Q. So why would you -- I mean, you could've at that point said, "I need stand down or he's not going to plead today." Why did you not make a statement like that?

A. *Well, in the heat of the moment there, I – I thought the plea would go away altogether if I did that, and then we would -- we'd go to trial, that the Solicitor's patience would be at an end and that would be the end of it.* I still thought that I could -- I could convince Judge Verdin to give him less than what she ended up giving him. But it was difficult -- it was a difficult situation because I -- I don't know. But I don't think the outcome would've been any different one way or the other.

App. 72, l. 16 – 73, l. 5 (emphasis added).

#### **D. How the PCR court ruled.**

The PCR court's oral ruling indicated that "very commonly it's kind of a little difference in the facts presented and what the defendant was willing to admit to, but I don't think that that necessarily goes to the voluntariness of the -- the voluntariness of the plea or the basis of the plea. So I believe that the -- I don't believe that there's sufficient information or evidence presented to grant -- to show ineffective assistance of counsel." App. 77, ll. 16 – 25.

In the written Order of Dismissal, the PCR court went further, noting that voluntary manslaughter was not an appropriate consideration since it was "forensically unsupportable."

App. 87. The PCR court's order failed to address plea counsel's lack of action during Judge Verdin's reluctance to accept the plea, other than to note plea counsel's concern that the state's offer would be "taken away." App. 89.

**E. Plea counsel had an obligation to stop Petitioner's guilty plea to voluntary manslaughter when Petitioner testified that he did not commit the crime charged, and plea counsel should have moved to withdraw the guilty plea in order to consult and advise Petitioner on the impact of involuntary manslaughter and accident surrounding the unintentional discharge of the firearm that killed M.L.**

In Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 683 S.E.2d 471 (2009) this Court noted the appropriate response of plea counsel when the client, during the plea colloquy, indicates that they are not in fact guilty of the crime charged. In Rolen, after family members of the victim addressed the court, the defendant told the court "All right, this has went on far enough, I didn't kill this man." Id., 384 S.C. at 411, 683 S.E.2d at 473. Rather than step in and move to withdraw the plea, plea counsel did nothing since he believed "once the plea was accepted, it was final and could not be withdrawn." Id., 384 S.C. at 412, 683 S.E.2d at 473.

This Court in Rolen found counsel was deficient for failing to move to withdraw the plea, and ultimately remanded the matter to the trial court for a hearing on whether the plea court would have allowed a withdrawal of the guilty plea had the proper motion been made:

The plea judge had formally accepted the guilty plea prior to Petitioner's protestation of his innocence. Therefore, even if counsel had moved to withdraw the guilty plea, the plea judge may have denied this request, and Petitioner could not have proceeded to trial. *See State v. Riddle*, 278 S.C. 148, 150, 292 S.E.2d 795, 796 (1982) (holding that the withdrawal of a guilty plea is generally within the sound discretion of the trial court). In this way, the prejudice analysis in this case does not fit squarely within the traditional guilty plea prejudice framework as set forth in *Hill*. Nonetheless, we hold that Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's

deficient performance because due to counsel's failure to make such a motion, the plea judge was not able to exercise his discretion.

Id., 384 S.C. at 413–14, 683 S.E.2d at 474.

In the present case, Petitioner initially indicated a willingness to plead guilty, and his rejection of guilt occurred after victim impact statements. This placed Judge Verdin in the same position as the lower court in Rolen, with the ability to allow a withdrawal of the plea *had plea counsel made the appropriate motion*. Plea counsel's failure to make the appropriate motion, in light of the Petitioner's multiple rejection of an intentional killing of M.L., was ineffective assistance of counsel as found in Rolen.

While counsel in Rolen wrongly assumed the plea could not be withdrawn at that stage, Petitioner's plea counsel was influenced by the unusual nature of the plea setting in part due to COVID restrictions and his belief the plea offer would be withdrawn if the court stopped the plea. As to the impact of COVID restrictions and the plea environment, plea counsel indicated this prevented any private conversations with Petitioner during the plea:

Q. Do you have any sort of sidebar with Mr. Dunston in there?

A. Well, that was difficult. And because -- because due to the pandemic, we were holding this -- this plea in the Magistrate's courtroom in the -- the jail. It's very small. There were a lot of people there because of the interest in this case, so there were press there. I was -- he was -- he was behind glass speaking through a portal, and I was in the courtroom. So I didn't -- *unlike probably most of the pleas I've ever done before in my life*, I didn't have the opportunity to pull him aside and whisper in his ear. So I -- I don't -- I didn't have any -- I couldn't have a conversation with him in that circumstance that -- that wouldn't be on the record. And then Judge Verdin started over, *and I think the moment passed*.

App. 71, l. 9 – 72, l. 1 (emphasis added).

After the “moment passed” counsel was concerned the plea offer would be withdrawn as motivation not to intercede and move to withdraw the plea pursuant to Rolen.

Well, in the heat of the moment there, I – I thought the plea would go away altogether if I did that, and then we would -- we'd go to trial, that the Solicitor's patience would be at an end and that would be the end of it. I still thought that I could -- I could convince Judge Verdin to give him less than what she ended up giving him. But it was difficult -- it was a difficult situation because I -- I don't know. But I don't think the outcome would've been any different one way or the other.

App. 72, l. 16 – 73, l. 5 (emphasis added).

In an effort to excuse plea counsel’s failure, the PCR court’s order asserted that voluntary manslaughter was not an appropriate consideration since it was “forensically unsupportable.” App. 87. This finding lacks any support in the record. Plea counsel indicated several different versions of the shooting were discussed with Petitioner; a situation plea counsel indicated was common among his clients as they work out their understanding of the law. App. 66, ll. 22 – 25.

In testifying about these various scenarios, plea counsel indicated that one of the scenarios discussed with Petitioner was “forensically unsupportable,” but that statement had nothing to do with the facts surrounding the actual shooting. App. 66, ll. 15 – 21. In contrast, the solicitor, during the plea hearing, *acknowledged the state lacked any direct evidence concerning the shooting*.

Witnesses would put him going on the porch, [M.L.] -- them both being on the porch, the witnesses hearing gun shots. Immediately when the door is opened, [M.L.] has the gun shot wound to the head. [Petitioner] leaves the scene on foot. We do have witnesses after the fact that would put him fleeing the scene.

He -- there was an extensive search to find [Petitioner]. He had -- he fled after the offense. *We don't have an eye witness of the actual shooting*, Judge, but we have certainly behavior before and after consistent with the attempt to avoid guilt.

App. 18, ll. 11 – 22 (emphasis added). The Petitioner’s testimony that the gun discharged during a struggle over its possession with M.L. was not “forensically unsupportable” as found by the PCR court’s order.

Petitioner testified that had counsel informed him about the law surrounding involuntary manslaughter, he would not have plead guilty.

Q. Now, did he ever talk to you about accident or involuntary manslaughter?

A. No, ma'am.

Q. And had he talked to you about that, what do you think you would've done?

A. I would've took a manslaughter plea.

Q. You would've taken the manslaughter ---

A. I wouldn't have taken [sic] the manslaughter plea.

Q. So you would've turn down the plea offer, and what would you have done instead?

A. I would've went to trial.

Q. Okay. And what -- how do you think the outcome of a trial would be different from your guilty plea?

A. I feel like they wouldn't have convicted me of manslaughter.

Q. You don't think they would've convicted you?

A. No, ma'am.

Q. How about involuntary manslaughter?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. So you think you have -- a jury would've come back with involuntary?

A. Yes, ma'am.