RECEIVED

Jul 05 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
The Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001746

RICHARD A. DUNSTON, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ANDREW D. POWELL
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

The PCR court properly found counsel was not deficient and Petitioner was not prejudiced because Counsel acted within the range of professional norms, and it is not reasonably probable that Petitioner's plea would have been withdrawn.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Richard Dunston was indicted by the Oconee County Grand Jury in October of 2018 for murder. He appeared for his guilty plea on October 15, 2020, before the Honorable Letitia Verdin, circuit court judge. Appellant pleaded guilty to voluntary manslaughter. Petitioner was sentenced to twenty-five years' imprisonment. Petitioner filed a notice of appeal, and his direct appeal was dismissed on December 16, 2020. Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on November 8, 2021. His PCR hearing was held on February 27, 2023, with the Honorable Perry Gravely presiding. Petitioner's application was dismissed with prejudice. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 17, 2018, Petitioner unlawfully killed M.L. (Victim) by striking her head and firing a handgun. (App. 9). Petitioner and Victim were engaged in an on again off again relationship. (App. 7). Respondent pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter on October 15, 2020. (App. 1; 6). The State explained that Petitioner had a history of domestic violence against women. (App. 7). During sentencing, the court commented on Petitioner's record noting "It is atrocious. It is atrocious." (App. 23). At the time of the attack, Petitioner was on probation for domestic violence. (App. 7).

In the event of a trial, the State was prepared to produce evidence that Petitioner was in possession of a firearm, was with Victim on a porch, told Victim "I'll shoot you[,]” and left the scene on foot after gunshots were fired. (App. 18; 69). The State was also prepared to show Petitioner told others that he had done a terrible thing and killed the person he loved. (App. 21). The State recommended a twenty-five-year sentence due to the nature of the crime and Petitioner's prior record. (App. 7). During the colloquy, the court ensured Petitioner understood he was pleading to voluntary manslaughter and the possible punishment associated with it. (App. 4). The court confirmed Petitioner had time to speak with Counsel and that Petitioner was happy with what Counsel did for him. (App. 4). Lastly, the court made certain Petitioner was not inebriated or forced or coerced to plea guilty. (App. 4). At this time, Petitioner was asked "and how do you plea" to which he responded "guilty." (App. 5). The State then gave a concise version of facts. (App. 5-6). After this, Petitioner again was asked "how do you plea" to which he responded "guilty." (App. 6).

Petitioner spoke prior to sentencing and stated that his argument with Victim resulted in a struggle for the handgun. (App. 17). Petitioner stated that during this struggle the gun "went off."

(App. 17). Petitioner stated “[e]verybody trying to say that I just up and shot her, and I did not do that.” (App. 17). At this point the court noted it could not accept Petitioner’s plea. (App. 17). Petitioner was next asked whether he pulled the trigger, to which he responded, “more like the gun went off” and “I couldn’t tell you.” (App. 19).

The Court then had the State read over the facts again. (App. 19). After restating the facts, Petitioner again noted his intention to plead guilty. (App. 20). The court noted “he’s admitting to the facts as presented by the State.” (App. 20). Petitioner’s plea was accepted and he was sentenced to twenty-five years’ imprisonment.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified that the facts of his case did not support his conviction. (App. 56-7). Petitioner testified that his lawyer did not give him a chance to talk about this prior to the hearing. (App. 56-7). Lastly, Petitioner claimed he would have wanted a trial had counsel discussed this with him. (App. 56-7).

Counsel explained that due to the pandemic, the plea hearing was held in the Magistrate’s courtroom.¹ (App. 71). Under this arrangement, Petitioner was behind glass and spoke through a portal. (App. 71). Accordingly, Counsel was not able to pull him aside and whisper in his Petitioner’s ear like usual. (App. 71). Counsel testified he met with Petitioner “at least once a month over ten or eleven months.” (App. 64). Counsel testified Petitioner never stated he wanted a trial. (App. 64). With regard to Petitioner’s version of events, Counsel stated Petitioner told him lots of different stories, one of which “just wasn’t true.” (App. 66-7). Regarding the facts, Petitioner recalled at his plea counsel stated, “I had not heard that story.” (App. 68). Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief was dismissed with prejudice.

¹ The PCR court found Counsel’s testimony credible. (App. 90).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). On appellate review, courts give great deference to a post-conviction relief court's finding of fact and will uphold them if there is any evidence in the record to support them. Id. at 179, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40 (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013); Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)). However, pure questions of law will be reviewed de novo without deference to the lower court. Id.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court properly found counsel was not deficient and petitioner was not prejudiced because Counsel acted within the range of professional norms, and it is not reasonably probable that Petitioner's plea would have been withdrawn.

Counsel was not ineffective for failing to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea because Counsel acted within professional norms by negotiating on behalf of Petitioner to receive a favorable agreement. Further, it is not reasonably probable Petitioner's plea would have been withdrawn, because he communicated to Counsel his desire to plea guilty, received a favorable deal by avoiding a possible life sentence, and did not indicate a desire to exercise his right to a jury trial at the hearing.

When the plea was accepted.

In State v. Thomason, our Court of Appeals found the trial court's refusal to allow defendant to withdraw his guilty plea was not an abuse of discretion.² State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 289, 584 S.E.2d 143, 149 (Ct. App. 2003). In Thomason, the trial court questioned defendant to determine whether he understood the nature of offenses, possible punishments, and rights he was waiving. Thomason, 355 S.C. 281-2 584 S.E.2d 144-5. The court determined the plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered into and noted it would accept the plea if the state gave a factual basis. Id. The state then presented a concise summary of the facts, to which the defendant did not argue were legally insufficient to support the charges. Id. At this point the court inquired the state as to whether they had notified the victims, to which the state was unable to verify.³ Id. The court then recessed the hearing and summoned the victims to

² Defendant pled guilty to resisting arrest. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 584 S.E.2d 143.

³ Defendant's attorney gave a brief factual summary that shifted blame for the incident to the arresting officers. "Hearing this, the circuit court asked if the solicitor notified the officers regarding the pleas and the recommendation of probation. When the solicitor could not confirm the officers had been notified, the circuit court recessed[.]" Thomason, 355 S.C. 282, 584 S.E.2d 145.

appear. Id. As a result, defendant moved to withdraw his plea on the basis that his agreement limited the state's factual presentation. Id. The Thomason Court noted that once the state completed its recitation of the facts, the hearing entered the sentencing phase. Thomason, 355 S.C. 287, 584 S.E.2d 146. Thus, the decision on whether to allow defendant to withdraw was within the discretion of the trial court. Id.

Here, the court ensured Petitioner was aware of the offense he was pleading to, the possible punishment, that it qualified as a violent offense, and that he was giving up certain Constitutional rights. (App. 3-5). The court also confirmed Petitioner was not under the influence of drugs or alcohol, was not forced to plea, was not under any medications, and felt clear headed. (App.5). After this, the court asked Petitioner "how do you plea to this charges, guilty or not guilty?" (App. 5). Petitioner responded "guilty." (App. 5). The court then asked the State for the facts that support the conviction. (App. 6). The State then gave a brief version of facts. (App. 6). After this the court asked again "how do you plea, guilty or not guilty?" (App. 6). To this Petitioner answered "guilty." (App. 6). The court responded "All right. I'll accept your plea[.]" (App. 6). The court then began the sentencing phase of the proceeding, with the State noting "Judge, for sentencing purposes[.]" (App. 6).

The court accepted the plea at this portion of the transcript. See Harden v. State, 453 So. 2d 550, 551 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1984) ("we therefore hold that formal acceptance of a plea occurs when the trial court affirmatively states to the parties, in open court and for the record, that the court accepts the plea"). Like Thomason, the court ensured Petitioner knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered into the plea. Correspondingly, after Petitioner pled guilty to the State's recitation of facts, this proceeding entered the sentencing phase.

Ineffective assistance of counsel.

Pursuant to the first prong of the Strickland analysis, Petitioner must show counsel's performance was deficient. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 686 (1984); Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To show deficiency, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel's actions fell outside of the zone of "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. See also Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP ("The applicant has the burden of establishing his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence"). Reasonableness is determined by the "variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant." Id. at 689. "Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 5 (2003) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance remains highly deferential towards defense counsel with a strong presumption that counsel acted competently, because competent representation may be executed in virtually "countless" ways. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-89. Even if there is reason to think counsel's conduct was far from exemplary relief may still be denied so long as counsel did not take an approach that no competent lawyer would have taken. Dunn v. Reeves, 141 U.S. 2405, 2410 (2021).

Here, the PCR court properly found Counsel was not deficient because he reasonably advised Petitioner regarding the guilty plea. The State was prepared to produce evidence that Petitioner was in possession of a firearm, was with Victim on a porch, told Victim "I'll shoot you[,]" and Petitioner left the scene on foot after gunshots. (App. 18; 69). The State was also prepared to show Petitioner told others that he had done a terrible thing and killed the person he

loved. (App. 21). Counsel was able to obtain a favorable twenty-five-year sentence, as opposed to a possible life sentence, which contextualizes Petitioner's decision in pleading guilty. (App. 7; 70). Given the possible consequences and potential evidence to be presented at trial, exploring a guilty plea was a logical and competent approach.

Counsel testified he regularly visited Petitioner and sought the plea because "he never told me he wanted to go to trial." (App. 64). Counsel attempted to receive a better deal but was told the Solicitor was "not remotely entertaining" an involuntary plea. (App. 67). Counsel stated that Petitioner told him several different stories of the incident in question. (App. 66). Counsel further stated that he thought the only way to receive an involuntary manslaughter conviction would have required Petitioner to testify and Counsel was worried about the role his prior record would play at trial. (App. 67-8). Given Petitioner's inconsistent factual accounts, prior record, and desire to avoid a life sentence it was reasonable for Counsel to explore and recommend Petitioner plea guilty. At the plea hearing Petitioner stated he had discussed the charge with Counsel and that he was happy with what Counsel had done for him.⁴ (App. 4).

During the sentencing portion, Counsel was not deficient for failing to attempt to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea. A defendant's plea cannot be withdrawn just because he disagrees with the facts, as long as he knowingly and voluntarily pleads with full understanding of the consequences of his plea and charges against him. State v. Rikard, 371 S.C. 295, 638 S.E.2d 72 (Ct. App. 2006). During sentencing, Petitioner did not indicate he unknowingly or involuntarily accepted the plea. Rather, Petitioner indicated he disagreed with the State's version of events. Counsel had no reason to attempt to withdraw Petitioner's plea because Petitioner "never told [Counsel] he wanted to go to trial[,]” and after hearing the facts again, reindicated his

⁴ The PCR court found Counsel's testimony credible. (App. 90).

desire to plea guilty.⁵ (App. 20; 64). In fact, Counsel’s chief concern was whether the plea would go away altogether. (App. 72). Under these circumstances, Counsel’s recommendation was not an approach no competent lawyer would have taken.

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the petitioner so that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. Id. at 695. A court need not determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining prejudice suffered by defendant as result of alleged deficiencies. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984).

To show prejudice in the context of a guilty plea, a PCR applicant typically must show that he would not have pled guilty but for counsel’s errors and “must convince the court that such a decision would have been rational under the circumstances.” United States v. Fugit, 703 F.3d 248, 260 (4th Cir. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted). Yet the analysis is different under these circumstances. See Rolan, 384 S.C. 414, 683 S.E.2d 474 (“In this way, the prejudice analysis in this case does not fit squarely within the traditional guilty plea prejudice framework”). Here, because the plea was accepted, the deficiency analysis is whether it is reasonably probable that a motion to withdraw would have been granted. Once a defendant has pled guilty, the decision whether to allow withdrawal is left to the trial court’s sound discretion. State v. Riddle, 278 S.C. 148, 292 S.E.2d 795 (1982); State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 538

⁵ Counsel noted his ability to pull Petitioner aside and whisper in his ear was limited due to the courtroom setup during the pandemic. (App. 71).

S.E.2d 257 (Ct. App. 2000). A defendant's plea cannot be withdrawn simply because he disagrees with the facts, as long as he knowingly and voluntarily pleads with full understanding of the consequences of his plea and charges against him. State v. Rikard, 371 S.C. 301-2, 638 S.E.2d 75-6 (Ct. App. 2006) (finding appellant was not entitled to withdraw of her guilty plea where she did not acknowledge the accuracy of the state's factual representation and admitted she was guilty of the charged offenses).

Prior to his application for post-conviction relief, Petitioner never indicated his plea was involuntary or unknowing. Petitioner has failed to meet his burden in establishing a reasonable probability that a motion for withdraw would have been granted.⁶ Accordingly, this Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.


⁶ In the event that Counsel rendered ineffective assistance, this case should be remanded to the point in the guilty plea proceeding in which counsel should have sought to withdraw the plea. Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 414, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ANDREW D. POWELL
Assistant Attorney General